ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 1: The circuit court erred in denying Petitioner's 

Motion for Summary Judgment as Respondent failed to proffer evidence of a "special 

relationship" between the decedent and the Petitioner. 

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 2: The circuit court erred in denying Petitioner's 

Motion for Summary Judgment as Petitioner is immune from suit for the alleged failure to 

inspect the premises of Kelsey Legg for hazards to the health and safety ofthose therein. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

I. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Anthony Hunter ("Respondent") filed the present matter on behalf of the estate of his late 

son, Kareem Hunter ("Kareem"), on September 22, 2015. (A.R. 001). In his Complaint, 

Respondent asserted a single a cause of action for negligence against the City of Marmet 

("Petitioner"). (A.R. 003-004). General1y speaking, Respondent alleged that that the City of 

Marmet caused the death of his son, who was murdered by third parties, because a Marmet 

police officer negligently "failed to fully investigate" a 911 call and negligently "failed to enter 

the residence [where Kareem was allegedly murdered] to determine whether any person inside 

required assistance." (A.R. 003). 

Petitioner, filed an Answer generally denying liability and asserting that it was statutorily 

immune from suit on November 3,2015. (A.R. 008-012). Also on November 3,2015, Petitioner 

filed a Motion to Dismiss asserting, among other things, that it was statutorily immune from suit 

pursuant to the West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act. (A.R. 013

030). Specifically, Petitioner averred that Respondent had failed to plead a special relationship 

between the City of Marmet and the decedent sufficient to overcome the City's immunity from 
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suit for its alleged failure to provide police or 1aw enforcement protection under West Virginia 

Code § 29-12A-5(a)(5). (A.R. 020-024). Petitioner also asserted that pursuant to West Virginia 

Code § 29-12A-5(a)(lO) that it was immune from suit for the alleged failure to inspect the 

apartment where Kareem was murdered. (A.R. 024-025). 

Respondent fi1ed a Response asserting that he could possibly establish a special 

relationship as "a 911 call was made by someone at the scene of Decedent[']s death" and "the 

Defendants responded to the scene." (A.R. 034-035). After hearing oral argument on the Motion, 

the circuit court denied the Motion and entered an order directing Plaintiff to file an amended 

complaint within ten days. (A.R. 038-039). Plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint asserting that 

"a person or persons unknown, acting on [the decedent's] behalf, contacted 911" and that "the 

decedent and those persons acting on his behalf relied upon the [Petitioner]" to prevent Kareem's 

death. (A.R. 040-041). 

Following discovery, Petitioner moved for summary judgment asserting that Respondent 

was unable to proffer any evidence of a "special relationship" between the decedent and the City 

of Marmet to defeat the City's statutory immunity pursuant to West Virginia Code § 29-12A

5(a)(5). (A.R. 044, 052-059). Likewise, the City again asserted that it was statutorily immune 

from suit pursuant to West Virginia Code § 29-12A-5(a)(1O) for the failure to inspect the 

premises where the murder allegedly occurred. (A.R. 059-060). 

Respondent filed a response to the Motion asserting that he could proffer evidence of a 

"special relationship" between the City and Kareem. (A.R. 097-098). However, Respondent 

failed to provide any affidavits, documents, deposition transcripts or other evidence providing 

support for this assertion. (A.R. 094-101). Respondent also argued that the City should 

nonetheless be subject to liability because he could establish that the Marmet Police officer 
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responding to the call negligently failed to follow proper police protocol and enter the premises 

under the West Virginia Code of State Regulations. (A.R. 098-100). Petitioner filed a reply 

reiterating that Respondent had failed to come forward with affirmative evidence to defeat the 

Petitioner's statutory immunity under West Virginia Code 29-12A-5(a)(5). (A.R. 103-108). 

The circuit court heard oral argument on Petitioner's Motion on April 12, 2017 and 

orally denied the same at the hearing. (A.R. 117, 144). The Motion was denied by written order 

of the circuit court on April 28, 2017. (A.R. 117-118). 

On April 25, 2017, Petitioner filed a Motion to Stay with the circuit court, seeking a stay 

of the circuit court proceedings to permit Petitioner to file an interlocutory appeal with this 

Court. (A.R. 119-122). By order entered May 3,2017, the circuit court ordered the matter stayed 

pending resolution of this appeal. (A.R. 123-124). Petitioner timely filed its Notice of Appeal on 

May 26, 2017 asserting that the circuit court's denial of statutory immunity to Petitioner at the 

summary judgment stage was erroneous and subject to interlocutory appeal. 

II. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS 

At summary judgment, Petitioner attached the Plaintiff's deposition testimony and a 911 

call report from Kanawha County Metro 911 as exhibits to Petitioner's Motion. (A.R. 072-088, 

089-091). In response, Plaintiff failed to provide the circuit court with any additional documents, 

depositions transcripts, affidavits, or other tangible evidence. (A.R. 094-101). Thus, the "facts" 

before the circuit court, and ultimately the record before this court on appellate review, consists 

ofRespondent's deposition testimony and the 911 call report. 

Respondent testified at deposition that on September 24,2013, his wife Linda Hunter (the 

mother of Kareem), received a call at their home in Hampton, Virginia at approximately 5:00 or 
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6:00 a.m. (A.R. 072, pp. 5-6; 082, pp. 41-43) I. The call came from their nephew, Donnell Strong. 

(A.R. 82, pp. 42-43). Strong informed Mrs. Hunter that she "needed to put out a missing person 

[report] on Kareem." (A.R. 082, p. 43). 

Respondent later "heard", although it is not clear when or from whom, that Kelsey Legg 

had picked Kareem up on September 23, 2013 from his residence at Lippert Street in Charleston 

and took him to a Rite Aid store where they purchased liquor. (A.R. 079, pp. 29-30; 082 pp. 43

44; 083, p. 46). Respondent testified: 

They was supposed to be going to her house. And when they got to 
her house, there was two people there waiting for [Kareem]. It was 
Deveron Patterson and Miguel Quinones. They bum-rushed him 
when he came in the door. 

(A.R. 082, p. 44). 

Patterson and Quinones then allegedly started beating and punching Kareem and a scuffle 

ensued. (A.R. 083, pp. 46-47). Respondent claims that Legg's brother Matthew, who lived in an 

apartment upstairs, allegedly heard the commotion and came downstairs and knocked on the 

door to check on Kelsey. (A.R. 083, p. 47). Matthew Legg then supposedly went outside and 

asked a neighbor to call the police. (A.R. 083, p. 47). Respondent asserts that the neighbor then 

called the police. CA.R. 083, p. 48). 

After 911 was contacted Respondent testified that a Mannet police officer appeared at the 

area outside of the apartments. (A.R. 083 p. 48). 

When the police pulled up to the scene, my understanding was, 
Quinones came out to the car. Told the officer everything is all 
right. Me and my girlfriend had an argument, I'm leaving. 

(A.R. 083, p. 48). Respondent claims that the officer then "pulled offl.]" (A.R. 083, p. 48). 

Respondent contends that "had [the officer] went to the door then, you know, my son would still 

I Citations to the appendix record containing the abbreviation "pp." cite to the page numbers ofa condensed 
transcript which contains four pages of testimony on one page. 
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be alive today[.]" (A.R. 084, p. 49). Although, Plaintiff avers that the officer could have 

prevented the death of Kareem, Plaintiff concedes both that he is unsure if Kareem was even 

alive at the time the officer showed up and that the responding officer had no reason to suspect 

that Kareem was in danger or needed protection. (A.R. 085, pp. 53-55). 

The call report provided by Kanawha Metro 911 indicates that the 911 call Respondent 

referenced was made by an individual named "Wendy" at approximately 8:49 p.m. on September 

23, 2013.(A.R. 089-090). "Wendy,,2 called to report a disturbance at Kelsey Legg's apartment 

building. (A.R. 089-090). "Wendy" stated to 911 that at Legg's apartment building there were 

"people outside yelling and screaming[.]" (A.R. 090). 

No calls were made by Kareem or by anyone asserting to act on his behalf. The call from 

"Wendy" is the only evidence of any communication with authorities remotely relating to the 

incident. Importantly, according to the call report, "Wendy" did not indicate that there was an 

altercation or potential murder occurring in the Legg apartment building. (A.R. 089-091). She 

simply informed 911 that there was a disturbance occurring outside of the bUilding. (A.R. 089

090). 

This is consistent with Respondent's deposition testimony which indicated that no one 

had any reason to suspect that Kareem Hunter was going to be murdered. Respondent stated as 

follows: 

Mr. Ruggier: [Do you have] [a]ny knowledge that anyone told 
any individual at the Marmet Police Department 
that Kareem was going to be hurt by Patterson, 
Quinones or Legg? 

Mr. Hunter: No, sir. 

*** 

2 Respondent believes this individual to be "Lindy Saunders". (A.R. 087, p. 6J)(A.R. 084, p. 51). However, the call 
report identifies her as "Wendy". (A.R. 089-090) .. 
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Mr. Ruggier: 


Mr. Hunter: 

Mr. Ruggier: 


Mr. Hunter: 

Mr. Ruggier: 


Mr. Hunter: 

Mr. Ruggier: 


Mr. Hunter: 

Mr. Ruggier: 


Mr. Hunter: 

Mr. Ruggier: 


Mr. Hunter: 

Mr. Ruggier: 


Mr. Hunter: 

Mr. Ruggier: 


Mr. Hunter: 

Mr. Ruggier: 


Mr. Hunter: 

Mr. Ruggier: 


Mr. Hunter: 

Mr. Ruggier: 


Mr. Hunter: 

Do you have any knowledge of Kareem having any 
contact with the city prior to his death - the City of 
Marmet. 
No. 
Do you have any knowledge of Kareem having any 
contact with the Marmet Police Department prior to 
his death? 
No, sir. 
Do you have any knowledge of Kareem having any 
contact with any town Marmet police officer prior 
to his death? 
No, sir. 
Do you have any knowledge of any conversation 
between Kareem and the Mannet police officers at 
all? 
No, sir. 
Do you have any knowledge that Kareem told the 
police to protect him from Kelsey Legg? 
No, sir. 
Do you have any knowledge that Kareem told the 
police to protect him from Miguel Quinones? 
No, sir. 
And when I say police, I mean town of Marmet 
Police Depamnent. 
No, sir. 
Do you have any knowledge that Kareem told the 
police department to protect him from Deveron 
Patterson? 
No, sir. 
Any knowledge that any Mannet police officer told 
Kareem Hunter that they would protect him from 
Miguel Quinones? 
No, sir. 
Any knowledge that any Mannet police officer told 
Kareem Hunter that they would protect him from 
Deveron Patterson? 
No, sir. 
Any knowledge that any Mannet police officer told 
Kareem Hunter that they would protect him from 
Kelsey Legg? 
No, sir. 

(A.R. 085, pp. 55-56)(A.R. 086, pp. 57-58). 
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Thus, it is clear, the City of Mannet had no reason to know that Kareem Hunter was in 

danger, much less that he could be murdered. As stated by Respondent: "I don't think nobody but 

the people that was there knew that Kareem was going to be killed (A.R. 085, p. 54). 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The circuit court committed reversible error when it denied the Petitioner's Motion for 

Summary Judgment. In accordance with the undisputed facts, Petitioner was entitled to statutory 

immunity pursuant to the West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act 

("Act") ,West Virginia Code § 29-12A-5, for two reasons. 

First, Petitioner was entitled to statutory immunity pursuant to West Virginia Code § 29

12A-5(a)(5). This provision provides that a political subdivision is generally immune from suit 

for the failure to provide police or law enforcement protection. Although a political subdivision 

is generally immune from suit for the failure to provide law enforcement protection, this 

immunity does not apply in instances where the injured party had a "special relationship" with 

the political subdivision. See Syl. Pt. 3, Benson v. Kutsch, 181 W. Va. 1,380 S.E.2d 36 

(1989)( establishing liability for local governments where there is a special relationship); See also 

Sy1. Pt. 8, Randall v. Fairmont City Police Dep't, 186 W. Va. 336,412 S.E.2d 737 

(1991)(incorporating the public duty doctrine and its special relationship exception into the 

statutory interpretation of W.Va. Code §29-12A-5(a)(5». Thus, when asserting a claim for 

failure to provide police or law enforcement protection, a Plaintiff must provide evidence of a 

special relationship. 

To establish a special relationship, it must be shown that (1) A political subdivision 

assumed, either by promises or actions, an affirmative duty to act on behalfof a party who was 

injured; (2) That the political subdivision or its agents knew that inaction could lead to harm to 
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the injured party; (3) That there was some form ofdirect contact between the injured party and 

the political subdivision or its agents, and; (4) That the injured party justifiably relied upon the 

political subdivision's actions or promises to prevent the injury. Syl. Pt. 2, Wolfe v. City of 

Wheeling, 182 W. Va. 253, 387 S.E.2d 307 (1989); Randall at Syl. Pt. 7. An injured party has the 

burden to establish all four elements prevail. As stated by the Court: "The foregoing elements for 

establishing a special relationship are joined with the conjunctive 'and,' signifying that all 

elements are required." Bowden v. Monroe Cty. Comm'n, 239 W. Va. 214, 800 S.E.2d 252, 259 

(201 7)("Bowden If'). 

Here, Respondent failed to bring forth evidence supporting any ofthe elements of the 

special relationship. First, Respondent failed to present any evidence to the lower court that 

Kareem Hunter, or anyone acting on his behalf, had direct contact with the City of Marmet or 

requested that the Marmet Police Department protect him. Next, Respondent failed to proffer 

evidence that the City of Marmet, by promises or actions, assumed a duty to act on behalf of 

Kareem or that the City had knowledge that a failure to act would result in harm to Kareem. 

Finally, Respondent failed to provide evidence that Kareem justifiably relied upon any 

representations of the City. Thus, the City is entitled to statutory immunity pursuant to West 

Virginia Code § 29-12A-5(a)(5) and the circuit court erred in failing to grant summary judgment 

on that basis. 

Second, the circuit court erred when it failed to grant summary judgment to Petitioner 

pursuant to West Virginia Code § 29-12A-5(a)(1 0). Under the plain text of this provision of the 

Act, a political subdivision is immune from suit for the failure to inspect the premises of third 

parties. 

The statute states: 
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A political subdivision is immune from liability if a loss or claim 
results from: Inspection powers or functions, including failure 
to make an inspection, or making an inadequate inspection, of 
any property, real or personal, to determine whether the 
property complies with or violates any law or contains a hazard 
to health or safety[.] 

w. Va. Code § 29-12A-5(a)(lO)(emphasis added). 

As stated by this Honorable Court: "W.Va.Code, 29-12A-5(a)(lO) [1986] is intended to 

immunize a political subdivision from claims arising out of the subdivision's negligent inspection 

ofthe properties of third parties[.]" Calabrese v. City o/Charleston, 204 W. Va. 650,659,515 

S.E.2d 814, 823 (I 999). 

In this case, Respondent asserts that a Marmet police officer should have knocked on the 

door of the Kelsey Legg residence and proceeded to inspect the apartment for the safety the 

individuals inside, namely Kareem. Consistent therewith, Respondent further contends that had 

an adequate inspection of the property occurred, Kareem Hunter would not have been murdered. 

As the City of Marmet is entitled to statutory immunity pursuant to 29-l2A-5(a)(1 0) for the 

alleged failure to inspect the premises ofKelsey Legg, the circuit erred in failing to grant 

Petitioner's Motion for Summary Judgment on this ground. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Pursuant to Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules ofAppellate Procedure, oral argument 

is necessary in this appeal as the decisional process of this Court would be significantly aided by 

oral argument. 

Accordingly, Petitioner requests oral argument pursuant to Rule 19 as the instant appeal 

involves assignments of error concerning the lower court's application of settled law. 

Specifically, it is well settled that a political subdivision, such as the City of Marmet, is 

statutorily immune from suit for the failure to provide law enforcement protection absent a 
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special relationship. Additionally, it is well settled that a political subdivision is statutorily 

immune from suit for claims concerning the failure to inspect the premises of a third party. 

In the event that the Court determines that any of the Petitioner's assignments of error 

concern "issues of first impression" Rule 20 oral argument is appropriate. W. Va. R. App. P. 

20(a). 

Appellants believe that the ten-minute maximum time for argument is sufficient. W. Va. 

R. App. P. 19(e). 

Appellants assert that a memorandum decision is not appropriate in this matter, pursuant 

to Rule 21, and, instead, the issuance of an opinion is warranted pursuant to Rule 22. 

ARGUMENT 

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

"A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo." Syl. Pt. 1, Nat'l 

Union Fire Ins. Co. ofPittsburgh v. Miller, 228 W. Va. 739, 724 S.E.2d 343 (2012); Syl. Pt. 1, 

Painter v. Peavy, 192 W.Va. 189,451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). When reviewing a lower court's 

decision under a de novo standard no deference is afforded to the lower court's ruling. As stated 

by this Honorable Court: "When employing the de novo standard of review, we review anew the 

findings and conclusions of the circuit court, affording no deference to the lower court's ruling." 

Blake v. Charleston Area Med. Ctr., Inc., 201 W. Va. 469, 475, 498 S.E.2d 41,47 (1997)(citing 

West Virginia Div. ofEnvtl. Protection v. King»'ood Coal Co., 200 W.Va. 734, 745,490 S.E.2d 

823,834 (1997». Likewise, "De novo refers to a plenary form of review that affords no 

deference to the previous decisionmaker." W. Virginia Div. ofEnvtl. Prot. v. Kingwood Coal 

Co., 200 W. Va. 734, 745,490 S.E.2d 823, 834 (1997)(Quoting Fall River County v. S.D. Dept. 

O/Rev., 552 N.W.2d 620,624 (S.D.1996». 
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"Summary judgment is appropriate if, from the totality of the evidence presented, the 

record could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as where the 

nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that 

it has the burden to prove." Syl. Pt. 2, Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 W. Va. 52,459 

S.E.2d 329 (1995). "A party who moves for summary judgment has the burden of showing that 

there is no genuine issue ofmaterial fact and any doubt as to the existence of such issue is 

resolved against the movant for such judgment." Miller, at Syl. Pt. 4; Syl. Pt. 4, Kelley v. City of 

Williamson, 221 W.Va. 506,655 S.E.2d 528 (2007). 

"A genuine issue is simply one half of a trial worthy issue, and a genuine issue does not 

arise unless there is sufficient evidence favoring the nonmoving party for a jury to return a 

verdict for that party." Jividen v. Law, 194 W. Va. 705,713,461 S.E.2d 451, 459 

(1995)(quotations omitted). "A material fact is one that has the capacity to sway the outcome of 

the litigation under the applicable law." fd (citations and quotations omitted). 

If the moving party makes a properly supported motion for 
summary judgment and can show by affirmative evidence that 
there is no genuine issue of a material fact, the burden of 
production shifts to the nonmoving party who must either (1) 
rehabilitate the evidence attacked by the moving party, (2) produce 
additional evidence showing the existence of a genuine issue for 
trial, or (3) submit an affidavit explaining why further discovery is 
necessary as provided in Rule 56(f) of the West Virginia Rules of 
Civil Procedure. 

Williams at Syl. Pt 3. 

"To be specific, the party opposing summary judgment must satisfy the burden of proof 

by offering more than a mere 'scintilla of evidence' and must produce evidence sufficient for a 

reasonable jury to find in a nonmoving party's favor." Williams, 194 W. Va. at 60, 459 S.E.2d at 

337 (quoting Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 252,106 S. Ct. 2505, 2512, 911. 

Ed. 2d 202, 214 (1986». 
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II. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DENIAL OF PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR 
SUMMARY JUDGMENT CONSTITUTES REVERSffiLE ERROR AS 
PETITIONER IS ENTITLED TO STATUTORY IMMUNITY PURSUANT TO 
THE GOVERNMENTAL TORT CLAIMS AND INSURANCE REFORM ACT 

The circuit court's denial of Petitioner's Motion for Summary Judgment constitutes

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