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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Circuit Court correctly denied Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment as 

genuine issues of material fact remain in dispute as to the circumstances surrounding the actions 
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of the Defendant which lead ultimately to the death of the Plaintiffs son. The actions of the 

Defendant are such that they are not entitled to Qualified immunity for their actions as they 

violated the statutory and constitutional rights of the decedent and further that a special 

relationship was created between the decedent and the Defendant upon their dispatch to the 

residence and scene of domestic violence. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Petitioner believes that the record and briefs in this case will provide the Court with all 

necessary information needed to decide the issues, and therefore oral argument under Rev. 

R.A.P. 18( a) is not necessary unless the Court determines that other issues arising upon the 

record should be addressed. If the Court determines that oral argument is necessary, this case is 

appropriate for a Rule 19 argument and disposition by memorandum decision. 

ARGUMENT 

A. The Circuit Court did not err in denying the Defendant's Motion for Summary 

Judgment because Plaintiff's Complaint and genuine issues of material fact remain in 

dispute sufficient to support the claim of the Plaintiff or permits inferences to be drawn 

that these elements exist, including the exception to the Public Duty doctrine. 

This Honorable Court should deny the appeal of the Defendant to the ruling of the Circuit 

Court below which denied Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment because the Plaintiffs 

Complaint sets forth enough information to outline the elements of the claim of the Plaintiff or 

permits inferences to be drawn that these elements exist, which need to be tried before ajury. 

Under Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, the Plaintiffs 

complaint should be read and construed liberally and in favor of the Plaintiff. Dismissal is proper 

only where the Complaint the complaint does not state sufficiently a valid claim. Closely akin to 
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a Motion for Swnmary Judgment, the moving party must show that there is no genuine issue as 

to any material fact and that it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Painter v. Peary, 192 

W. Va. 189,451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). In Syllabus Point 1 ofAndrickv. Town ofBuckhannon, 187 

W.Va. 706, 421 S.E.2d 247 (1992), the West Virginia Supreme Court articulated the standard for 

granting motions for summary judgment: 

A Motion to summary judgment should be granted only when it is 
clear that there is no genuine issue (~ffact to be tried and inquiry 
concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the 
law. 

Syllabus Point 3, Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Federal Insurance Co. ofNew York, 148 
W.Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963) (emphasis added), see also Adickes v. SH Kress & Co., 398 
U.S. 144,90 S.Ct. 1598,26 L.Ed.2d 142 (1970). 

Further, the Court indicated that the circuit court's function at the summary judgment 

stage is not "to weigh the evidence and determine the truth of the matter but to determine 

whether there is a genuine issue for trial." Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242,249, 

106 S.Ct. 2505,2511, 91 L.Ed.2d 202, 213 (1986). The Court must draw upon any permissible 

inference from the underlying facts in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion. 

Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., Ltd. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 106 S.Ct. 1348,89 

L.Ed.2d 538 (1986); Masinter v. WEBCO Co., 164 W.Va. 241, 262 S.E.2d 433 (1980). Andrick, 

187 W.Va. at 708, 421 S.E.2d at 249. 

Additionally, the party opposing summary judgment must satisfy the burden of proof by 

offering more than a mere "scintilla of evidence" and must produce evidence sufficient for a 

reasonable jury to find in a nonmoving party's favor. Anderson, 477 U.S. at 252, 106 S.Ct. at 

2512,91 L.Ed.2d at 214. Summary judgment is appropriate where the record taken as a whole 

could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as where the 

nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that 
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it has the burden to prove. Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 106 S.Ct. 2548, 91 L.Ed.2d 

265 (1986) (emphasis added). Therefore, while the underlying facts and all inferences are 

viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, the nonmoving patty must offer some 

" 'concrete evidence from which a reasonable .. , [finder of fact] could return a verdict in ... [its] 

favor' "or other" 'significant probative evidence tending to support the complaint.' " Liberty 

Lobby, 477 U.S. at 256, 106 S.Ct. at 2514,91 L.Ed.2d at 217 (quoting First Nat'! Bank of 

Arizona v. Cities Servo Co., 391 U.S. 253, 290,88 S.Ct. 1575, 1593,20 L.Ed.2d 569, 593 

(1968)); Crain V. Lightner, 178 W.Va. 765,364 S.E.2d 778 (1987). 

In this case, there are genuine issues of material fact, as evidenced by the Defendant's 

Motion to Dismiss, the Plaintiffs Complaint, and the Defendant's Answer as well as the third 

party complaints and additional facts developed or elicited at the trial of a Third Party Defendant. 

These issues exist as to the Defendant's duty to clear a scene after being alerted to violent 

acts occurring upon the residential premises which involved "Family or household members" as 

defined under W.Va.Code §48-27-204 to which they have been specifically summoned. 

In battling Domestic violence, the legislature has adopted legislative rules as to the 

manner and method of responding to reports of domestic violence. The Defendants in this matter 

failed to follow the rules and statutory requirements of our legislature when they responded to 

the scene of the assault upon the decedent. In so doing the defendants are not afforded protection 

by qualified immunity under the current state of the law. 

Therefore, this Court was correct to deny the Defendant's Motion to Dismiss because the 

Plaintiff has demonstrated more than a mere scintilla of evidence to demonstrate that there are 

genuine issues of material fact, which need tried before ajury. 
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B. The Circuit Court did not err in denying the Defendant's Motion for Summary 

Judgment as the Defendant is not immune from liability under the Defendant's theories of 

Qualified Immunity and their application to the facts of this case. 

In its Motion to Dismiss, the Defendant states it is immune from liability based upon 

Qualified Itmmmity as set forth in W.Va. Code § 29-12A-5(a)(5)(1986). However, Plaintiff 

argued below that a special relationship existed at the time of the incident between the decedent 

and the Defendant and cited the dissent of Chief Justice Davis in the case ofW. Va. Reg'l Jail & 

Corr. Facility Auth. v. A.B., 234 W.Va. 492, 766 S.E.2d 751 (W.Va., 2014) which stated: 

" ... the public duty doctrine "does not rest squarely on the principle of 
governmental immunity, but rests on the principle that recovery may be had for 
negligence only if a duty has been breached which was owed to the particular 
person seeking recovery." Parkulo v. West Virginia Bd. of Prob. & Parole, 199 
W. Va. 161,172,483 S.E.2d 507, 518 (1996). If the public duty doctrine applies, 
there is no duty owed by the government and therefore no need to inquire as to the 
existence of governmental immunity. However, the public duty doctrine may be 
defeated under the special relationship exception. This Court set forth the 
following test for determining when the "special relationship" exception to the 
public duty doctrine gives rise to a cause of action: 
"To establish that a special relationship exists between a local governmental 
entity and an individual, which is the basis for a special duty of care owed to such 
individual, the following elements must be shown: (1) an assumption by the local 
governmental entity, through promises or actions, of an affirmative duty to act on 
behalf of the party who was injured; (2) knowledge on the part of the local 
governmental entity's agents that inaction could lead to harm; (3) some form of 
direct contact between the local governmental entity's agents and the injured 
party; and (4) that party's justifiable reliance on the local governmental entity's 
affirmative undertaking." 
Syl. pt. 2, Wolfe v. City of Wheeling, 182 W. Va. 253, 387 S.E.2d 307 (1989)." 
W. Va. Reg'l Jail & Corr. Facility Auth. v. A.B. (W.Va., 2014) No. 13-0037 at 
page 12. 

Under the public duty doctrine, a government entity or officer cannot be 
held liable for breaching a general, non-discretionary duty owed to the public as a 
whole. "Often referred to as the 'duty to all, duty to no one' doctrine, the public 
duty doctrine provides that since government owes a duty to the public in general, 
it does not owe a duty to any individual citizen."O For example, under the public 
duty doctrine, "the duty to fight fires or to provide police protection runs to all 
citizens and is to protect the safety and well-being of the public at large[.]" 
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Generally, no private liability attaches when a tire department or police 
department fails to provide adequate protection to an individual. The public duty 
doctrine is restricted to "liability for nondiscretionary (or 'ministerial' or 
'operational') functions[.]" 

The exception to the public duty doctrine arises when a "special 
relationship" exists between the government entity and a specific individual. "The 
state may be liable where it has taken on a special duty to a specific person 
beyond that extended to the general public." In determining whether a "special 
relationship" or "special duty" exists, a plaintiff must prove four factors: 
(1) An assumption by the state governmental entity, through promises or actions, 
of an affirmative duty to act on behalf of the party who was injured; (2) 
knowledge on the part of the state governmental entity's agents that inaction could 
lead to harm; (3) some form of direct contact between the state governmental 
entity's agents and the injured party; and (4) that party's justifiable reliance on the 
state governmental entity's aftirnlative undertaking. 
"Qualified immunity is, quite simply, immunity from suit. The public duty 
doctrine is a defense to negligence-based liability, i.e. an absence of duty." W.Va. 
Dep't of Health & Human Res. v. Payne, 231 W.Va. 563, 568, 746 S.E.2d 554, 
559 (2013). A government entity can assert qualified immunity when a 
government official's duties "derive from discretionary 'judgments, decisions, and 
actions[.]' "Id., 231 W.Va. at 572, 746 S.E.2d at 56 The government entity can 
interpose the public duty doctrine as a defense when it perceives a plaintiff is 
attempting to hold the entity liable for breach of a non-discretionary duty owed to 
the general public. When a duty owed to the general public is at issue, a plaintiff 
may then respond with proof that the government entity adopted a special duty 
toward that specific plaintiff." 

The recently decided case ofW. Va. State Police v. Hughes, 796 S.E.2d 193 (W.Va., 

2017) appears to adopt the rationale of the dissent of Chief Justice Davis in W. Va. Reg'l Jail & 

Corr. Facility Auth. v. A.B., 234 W.Va. 492, 766 S.E.2d 751 (W.Va., 2014) and was very similar 

in several respects to this matter. The missing element in the Hughes case was a violation of a 

clearly established statutory or constitutional rights ofwhich a reasonable person would have 

known. That element is clearly NOT missing in this case. 

The Court in Hughes, supra, stated: 

"This appeal presents overlapping legal theories concerning governmental 
immunity. On the one hand, the State Police asserts that the actions of its 
employees in this case were discretionary, and therefore protected by the doctrine 
of qualified immunity. On the other hand, the plaintiffs contend the actions of the 
State Police employees were non-discretionary, ministerial responsibilities, and 
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are therefore covered by the "public duty" doctrine. Application of either doctrine 
reaches the same result, and permits the government to avoid liability for its 
negligent actions. The latter doctrine, however, has an exception that allows the 
government to be held liable if it assumes a "special duty" toward an individual. 
The plaintiffs contend the State Police employees assumed, and then breached, a 
special duty toward the plaintiffs. 

Under the doctrine of qualified immunity, the discretionary actions of 
government agencies, officials and employees performed in an official capacity 
are shielded from civil liability so long as the actions do not violate a clearly 
established law or constitutional duty. "Government officials performing 
discretionary functions are shielded from liability for civil damages insofar as 
their conduct does not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional 
rights ofwhich a reasonable person would have known."(emphasis added) 

Furthermore, "[a] public officer is entitled to qualified immunity for 
discretionary acts, even if committed negligently." Qualified immunity is broad 
and protects "all but the plainly incompetent 01' those who kllowingly violate 
the law." (emphasis added) Bennett v. Coffman, 178 W.Va. 500, 361 S.E.2d 465 
(1987). See also Syllabus, in part, State v. Chase Sec., Inc., 188 W.Va. 356, 424 
S.E.2d 591 (1992) ("A public executive ofticial who is acting within the scope of 
his authority ... is entitled to qualified immunity from personal liability for official 
acts ifthe involved conduct did not violate clearly established laws of which a 
reasonable official would have known. "). As this Court said: 

4. If a public officer is either authorized or required, in the exercise of his 
judgment and discretion, to make a decision and to perform acts in the making of 
that decision, and the decision and acts are within the scope of his duty, authority, 
and jurisdiction, he is not liable for negligence or other error in the making of that 
decision, at the suit of a private individual claiming to have been damaged 
thereby .... 

6. In the absence of an insurance contract waiving the defense, the 
doctrine of qualified or official immunity bars a claim of mere negligence against 
a State agency not within the purview of the West Virginia Governmental Tort 
Claims and Insurance Reform Act, W.Va.Code § 29-12A-l et seq., and against 
an officer ofthat department acting within the scope of his or her employment, 
with respect to the discretionary judgments, decisions, and actions of the officer. 
Clark v. Dunn, 195 W.Va. 272,465 S.E.2d 374 (1995)." 

In this matter qualified immunity is not available since the Defendants violated statutory 

requirements and the additional existence of a special relationship created with the decedent. 

While the Defendant seeks to rely upon the lack of direct contact with the decedent based upon a 

deposition of his mother who was living in the state of Virginia at the time of the incident and 
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unable to provide first-hand knowledge of the actual events there is no doubt that a 911 call was 

made by someone reporting a domestic disturbance at a domicile which was the scene of the 

Decedents attack (it cannot yet be argued that it was anyone other than the decedent), the 

Defendants responded to the scene (assuming a duty to act on behalf of the decedent), the 

protocol for the Defendant and all other police agencies responding to a domestic violence call 

required a walk-through of the residence in order to insure that there were no persons requiring 

medical assistance and/or that no threat of violence then existed (Knowledge on the part of the 

Defendant that their inaction could lead to harm) and the decedent had reason to believe that 

Defendant police agency would protect the decedent from harm as a result of his call to 911. The 

Police agencies have been required to have domestic violence response training (a clearly 

established statutory or constitutional rights ofwhich a reasonable person would have known.) 

by the terms of W. Va. Code §48-2A-9(i) which provides: 

"All law-enforcement officers shall receive training relating to response to 
calls involving domestic or family violence by the first day of October, one 
thousand nine hundred ninety-three." 

The protocol to be followed by law enforcement officers is set forth in WV Legislative 

Rule Title 149 as follows: 

Initial Law Enforcement Officer Response 

1. Approaching the Scene 

Whenever possible, at least two law enforcement officers shall respond to a 
domestic call. Approach the scene of a domestic incident as one of high risk. 
Obtain all available information from the dispatcher before arriving at the scene 
and notify the dispatcher upon arrival. Unless the circumstances of a particular 
incident require different measures, you should: a) Approach the scene 
inconspicuously. b) Do not use sirens or lights in the immediate area of the scene 
of the incident. c) Park away from the immediate scene of the incident. d) Keep a 
safe exit route in mind. e) Be alert for the employment of weapons from doors, 
windows, or nearby vehicles. f) Be alert for persons moving away from the 
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immediate scene of the incident. g) Employ other standard precautionary 

measures for approaching high risk incident scenes. 


2. Initial Contact

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